**RECEIVED**

**06-16-2015**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT 4

---

Appeal No. 2015AP160 CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,  
  
Plaintiff-Respondent,  
  
vs.

JEANETTE M. JANUSIAK, Defendant-Appellant

---

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND  
SENTENCE, ENTERED IN THE SAUK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,  
THE HONORABLE PATRICK J. TAGGART PRESIDING.

---

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

---

ZALESKI LAW FIRM  
Steven W. Zaleski  
State Bar No. 1034597  
10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800  
Madison, WI 53703  
608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net  
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Were inculpatory statements by Janusiak to law enforcement officers free from coercion and improper pressures and therefore voluntarily made?

The trial court answered: yes.

## **POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will be warranted as this appeal involves the issue of voluntariness of a confession in the specific context of threats or promises made to a defendant regarding her children. Although courts from other jurisdiction have specifically examined the issue, Janusiak does not believe any Wisconsin courts have done so.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State charged Janusiak with first degree intentional homicide. A-Ap.100-101. The case originated from the death of an infant, P.S., DOB 3/27/2011, for whom Janusiak was a babysitter. A-Ap.102. The criminal complaint, A-Ap.100-101, contains the specific allegations made by the State.

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion seeking a pre-trial ruling as to the admissibility of certain statements which Janusiak made to law enforcement. A-Ap.102-114. The defense challenged the admissibility of such statements on grounds that Janusiak did not make them voluntarily. A-Ap.116-118. After briefing by both parties, the trial court entered a memorandum decision concluding that Janusiak's statements were voluntary. A-Ap.119-125.

The case proceeded to a ten day jury trial wherein the jury found Janusiak guilty. A-Ap.126. At sentencing, the trial court sentenced Janusiak to life imprisonment and found her eligible for extended supervision after 40 years. A-Ap.126. Janusiak timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed

the undersigned counsel. These proceedings follow Janusiak's notice of appeal. 106.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### *Police Officer Mark Eberle*

City of Reedsburg Police Officer Eberle testified on behalf of the State at the suppression hearing. 27:8. While on duty on August 18, 2014, Eberle received an ambulance page for an infant not breathing at 150 North Freedom in the City of Reedsburg, Wisconsin. 27:9. Eberle responded and arrived at the location at 2:24 a.m. 27:9. After knocking on the front door, Eberle heard a voice which told him to come in. 27:10. Eberle entered the house and met a young female who directed him toward the back bedroom. 27:10. In the room, Eberle found Janusiak, who was on the phone with the 911 operator, and an infant who did not appear to be breathing. 27:10-11. Eberle provided care to P.S. until the paramedics arrived. 27:11. Janusiak was crying and visibly upset. 27:11. Eberle spoke with Janusiak for about ten minutes. 27:15. Eberle asked Janusiak questions to find out who the child's mother was and then contacted the mother. 27:15. After calling

and speaking with the mother for about five minutes, Eberle returned to talk with Janusiak. 27:16. Janusiak was calmer. 27:23. Eberle questioned Janusiak further about what had happened that night. 27:17. Eberle did not arrest Janusiak and did not provide her with the “Miranda” warnings. 27:18. Eberle finished speaking with Janusiak at about the same time emergency medical services workers placed P.S. in the ambulance. 27:17. Eberle then left after spending about one hour at the residence. 27:18.

*Lieutenant Gary Zellmer*

Lieutenant Zellmer of the Reedsburg Police Department also testified for the State. At around 12:30 p.m. on August 18, Zellemer went to Janusiak’s residence. 27:29. Zellmer asked Janusiak if she would come down to the Reedsburg Police Department so he could talk with her in regards to the P.S. incident. 27:31. The purpose was to ask Janusiak more questions. 27:35. Zellmer had contact with Janusiak for about twenty minutes at the residence. 27:31. Janusiak agreed to come to the police department. 27:32. An officer placed Janusiak in handcuffs and transported her to the station. 27:32. Janusiak appeared fine, cooperative and willing to come down to the department. 27:32. At the police department, Zellmer met



with Janusiak in an interview room for about an hour. 27:37. A Detective Stetler was the main “interviewer” but Chief of Police Becker also participated in the meeting with Janusiak 27:34. Police removed the handcuffs from Janusiak before talking with her. 27:37.

*Detective Andrew Stelter*

Detective Stelter of the Reedsburg Police Department also testified. Stelter went to Janusiak’s house to meet Eberle and an Officer Knuth who were already there. 27:40. Stelter arrived around 4:00 a.m. and met with Janusiak for at least an hour. 27:41, 54. Janusiak did not look tired but around 5:00 a.m., she exhibited some yawns. 27:43. Janusiak was pleasant, helpful and concerned. 27:43. Janusiak showed Stelter the bedroom, 27:43, and “what happened.” 27:44. After leaving the house, Stelter next saw Janusiak at 12:36 p.m. at the police department. 27:45.

At the police department, it was Stelter’s intention to “formally interview” Janusiak regarding what had happened to P.S. 27:45. Stelter specifically wanted to get an explanation for what had happened. 27:55. The meeting took place in a room about ten foot by eight foot. 27:45. There was a small table with two chairs facing each other, a telephone, and a corner table.

27:45. The room had one door which opened to the booking area. 27:46. The room included recording equipment which recorded the “interview” and Stelter informed Janusiak that the meeting would be recorded. 27:46. Prior to asking questions, Stelter read Janusiak the “Miranda” warnings and obtained Janusiak’s signature on a written “Miranda” waiver form. 27:47. The “interview” lasted about seven hours. 27:48. During those seven hours, there were three breaks. 27:48. Stelter needed the breaks to talk with Zellmer and Becker about the case and what information the doctors had to provide. 27:48. Janusiak used the breaks to smoke outside or use the bathroom. 27:48. An officer always accompanied Janusiak outside. 27:49. Janusiak was not under arrest but she was not free to leave. 27:49. Janusiak had some soda during the “interview” but no food. 27:49. Stelter did not ask Janusiak if she had received any sleep since he last saw her at the house. 27:54.

### *Janusiak’s interrogation<sup>1</sup>*

The interrogation was recorded on DVD in two segments. 12. The first segment covers the start of the interrogation and continues to approximately

---

<sup>1</sup> Janusiak only challenged the statements made during the interrogation at the police station and this appeal only involves those statements.

4 hours and 27 minutes into the interrogation. 12. The second segment covers the last 2 hours and 32 minutes of the interrogation.<sup>2</sup> 12. Throughout the first four and a half hours of the interrogation, Janusiak repeatedly denies knowing what caused P.S.'s injuries and/or that she had anything to do with such injuries. 111:129, 133, 136, 140, 142, 143, 144, 145, 150, 151, 152, 154, 157, 159, 165, 169, 184, 185, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191, 194, 195, 196, 198.<sup>3</sup>

At about the 3:14:39 mark, Stelter posits various accidental scenarios that could possibly explain P.S.'s injuries, for example that P.S. fell or that Janusiak dropped P.S. 111:153. Stelter informs Janusiak that "those are accidents, those aren't intentional things, you know, it's not what people go to, get in trouble for..." 111:153.

At about 3:55:06, a Ms. Hazel Coppernoll, the Supervisor of the Sauk County Human Services Department enters the room and advises Janusiak that she "really need(s) to tell us what's going on." 111:176. At 3:58:38, Coppernoll tells Janusiak "at this point, I'm not taking them into custody,

---

<sup>2</sup> The time references correspond to channel 01 on the DVD.

<sup>3</sup> Approximate corresponding DVD references are as follows: 12 at 2:46:25, 2:52:21, 2:55:54, 3:00:29, 3:02:56, 3:04:25, 3:04:55, 3:05:08, 3:06:02, 3:11:44, 3:12:39, 3:13:30, 3:13:36, 3:14:23, 3:15:15, 3:19:14, 3:22:23, 3:24:37, 3:24:42, 3:29:53, 3:37:39, 4:07:16, 4:08:32, 4:10:12, 4:10:25, 4:12:15, 4:12:46, 4:12:50, 4:14:07, 4:14:54, 4:16:28, 4:23:28, 4:22:39, 4:24:19, 4:06 (second segment).

umm, I'm obviously very concerned about your own children if this happened at your home, umm, I want you to be aware of that then, you know, I'm looking into that very closely." 111:178. Coppernoll remains in the room until about 4:04:19 when she exists and advises Janusiak to "be as cooperative as you possibly can." 111:183.

At five minutes into the second segment Stelter informs Janusiak that based on the medical evidence, whatever happened to P.S. happened while she was in Janusiak's care. 111:199; 12 at 4:53. Janusiak continues to deny knowing what caused P.S.'s injuries and/or that she had anything to do with such injuries: 111:200, 201, 202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207, 209, 210, 211, 212, 213, 214.<sup>4</sup>

At 24:19, Stelter informs Janusiak that she was going to be charged with homicide. 111:214. At such point, Janusiak begins sobbing and responds, "What? Are you serious? I, are you kidding me? (Unintelligible) homicide really? Cause she's at my house? And I didn't do anything. Oh my God. Oh my God. (Unintelligible). I wish I. (Unintelligible) homicide," 111:214, 24:19, "what did I do I didn't do anything." 111:214; 12 at 25:31.

---

<sup>4</sup> Approximate corresponding DVD references are as follows: 12 at 6:54, 7:04, 9:04, 9:35, 10:10, 11:11, 11:22, 11:29, 11:33, 11:53, 12:12, 12:20, 13:16, 13:30, 14:17, 15:50, 18:07, 18:18, 18:51, 19:48, 20:02, 20:06, 2:13, 20:59, 21:35, 22:29, 23:10, 23:23.

Janusiak continues to deny doing anything to harm P.S. 111:215, 217; 12 at 26:19, 28:34. At this point, Chief of Police Becker enters the room. Becker asks Janusiak to consider whether a judge would be less inclined or more inclined to incarcerate her if she were to take responsibility. 111:218, 219; 12 at 29:23 to 30:25. Janusiak again denies doing anything to P.S. 111:219; 12 at 30:27. From 31:24 to 31:42, the following dialogue takes place:

Becker: *We don't want you to go to jail, we want to find out what happened.* Italics added.

Janusiak: I don't want to go to jail.

Becker: We want to find out.

Stelter: *I want to send you home with your kids, that's what I want.* Italics added.

Becker: *But you're not giving us anything to work with here.* Italics added.

Janusiak: There is nothing else I can think of that (unintelligible) happened to her though. That's, I'm try, you know what I mean, I'm trying to tell you.

Stelter: There, there's got to be something, there's got be some....111:220; 12 at 31:24 to 31:42.

At 32:01, Becker tells Janusiak, “There’s, there’s an officer waiting outside the door to transport you.” 111:221. Between 32:30 and 32:40, Becker tells Janusiak, “(t)his is it, this is the end of the line,” “it’s time to tell us.” 111:221. Janusiak responds, “I didn’t do anything to (unintelligible) (P.S.), you know what I mean? I didn’t, (unintelligible) how could I hit her, I didn’t drop her, you know what I mean? I didn’t trip, I didn’t fall, (unintelligible), you know I would have hurt myself if I would have done that, I got pregnant stomach, you know what I mean (unintelligible) possible to fall.” 111:221; 12 at 32:40. At 33:33, Janusiak states, “No, but I, I would, I would never hit her or do anything like that. Never. (Unintelligible), you know. (Unintelligible) hit her head.” 111:223. Becker then tells Janusiak, “Think back, walk yourself through every second of that moment, while you’re with (P.S.) to tell us what could have caused this injury. 111:223; 12 at 33:48. At about 40:37 to 41:26, the following dialogue takes place:

Janusiak: I didn’t do anything wrong I would have (unintelligible) tell you.

Stelter: I just want an explanation for it (unintelligible).

Janusiak: (Unintelligible) seriously, so you’re telling me that it couldn’t have happened from a fall, but then you guys, like, it’s like, you know what I mean, telling me...

Stelter: To fall, (unintelligible) a roll off the bed, no it's not like that.

Janusiak: (Unintelligible).

Stelter: Not going to do this, a lot higher.

Janusiak: Like what?

Stelter: I don't know.

Janusiak: (Unintelligible) this. I mean, (unintelligible) I didn't hit her, I did not hit her.

Stelter: I'm not saying you did hit her.

Janusiak: Then what are you saying?

Stelter: I don't know, what, what happened (unintelligible) hit her.

Janusiak: (Unintelligible) maybe she could have fallen.

Stelter: Why do you think that?

Becker: Did she fall?

Janusiak: Huh?

Becker: Did she fall?

Janusiak: Maybe, (unintelligible).

Becker: (Unintelligible) did she fall?

Janusiak: She fell off my bed, it was off my bed.

Becker: What else happened?

Janusiak: That's it.

Becker: That's all that happened?

Janusiak: That's it.

Becker: That's all that happened?

Janusiak: Yes. 111:224-225.

Stelter and Becker reject that P.S. fell off the bed, "There's got to be more to it," 111:227; 43.48, and continue to press Janusiak. From 41:26 to approximately 1:06, Janusiak insists that P.S. fell off the bed while she was not in the room. 111:225-244.

At about 1:06:26, Becker tells Janusiak, "I feel, I feel terrible for you, but you're kind of, this is the way you want this to go down and that's, that's totally up to you, I understand, if you have reason that you want to go to jail I guess that's that's fine." "But we're talking about jail, no kids." 111:244; 12 at 1:06:35. "No family." 111:244; 12 at 1:06:36.



At about 1:08:24 to 1:09:25, Janusiak adds that P.S. hit an open drawer on a table next to the bed as she fell. 111:246.

Stelter then says, “ There’s more to it, I know that. Why don’t you want to tell me everything that happened to (P.S.). 111:247; 12 at 1:10:36.

Janusiak then indicates, “Cause I don’t know.” 111:148; 12 at 1:10:44.

Stelter tells Janusiak, “You can take a child and roll them down a flight of stairs and they’ll be fine. No brain injuries, nothing.” 111:249; 12 at 1:12:50. “Uh, I just went to class on this, I, I, studied all about it. A fall off the bed onto the table and hitting the floor is not going to do anything.

You’re talking about two drops at two feet maybe ok? Boom, boom. Is that going to kill a child?” 111:249; 12 at 1:12-1:13:08. Janusiak indicates she does not know what happened to P.S. because, she was not in the room and that P.S. was on the bed with her three kids. 111:250; 12 at 1:14:45.

Janusiak then suggests that perhaps one of the kids could have dropped P.S. while playing rough. 111:252; 12 at 1:16:58. Janusiak indicates that she went into the room when she heard the baby crying and found her on the floor by the head of the bed and the table. 111:253; 12 at 1:17:48. Stelter responds, “That, Jeannette, ok. Let, let’s stop, stop with the whole falling off the bed thing.” 111:254; 12 at 1:18:09. Janusiak insists that she does

not know what happened because she was not in the room. 111:254, 261, 262; 12 at 1:18:21, 1:31:49, 132:37.

At 1:34:05, Stelter suggests that perhaps Janusiak dropped P.S. onto the bed and then she fell to the floor:

Stelter: You kind of drop him on the bed then he rolls off the bed, I mean, I could see something like that happening.

Janusiak: I never did that. I'm here (unintelligible) and insinuate that I did something like that, that never, I'm not going to tell you a lie, so that. 111:263; 12 at 1:34:16

At 1:42:05, Becker tells Stelter to handcuff Janusiak and take her out to the car for transport. 111:270. Janusiak replies, "Are you serious?" 111:270; 12 at 1:42:08. Becker states, "Yep, absolutely, you had your chance." 111:270; 12 at 1:42:10. Janusiak then asks, "What else do you want to know?" 111:270; 12 at 1:42:14. Janusiak then proceeds to say that she placed (P.S.) too close to the edge of the bed and that she fell off and hit the table. 111:271-272.

At about 1:58:28, Stelter informs Janusiak the she's going to be charged with first degree intentional homicide and that she is going to jail. 111:283.

At 2:02:14, Janusiak says that she tossed (P.S.) on the bed and that (P.S.)

fell off and hit the table and floor. 111:288; 294; 12 at 2:02:14, 2:08.12.

The interrogation ends at 2:32:19.

*Trial court's findings and conclusions*

The trial court issued a memorandum decision wherein it found that “there were no improper police practices or coercion used against the Defendant to obtain the statements” and concluded that the statements were voluntary. A-Ap.123,125.

## **ARGUMENT**

**Trial court erred in admitting Janusiak's statements to law enforcement because such statements were not voluntary.**

### **A. Standard of review**

The question of voluntariness involves the application of constitutional principles to historical facts. We give deference to the circuit court's findings regarding the factual circumstances that surround the making of the statements. **State v. Hoppe**, 2003 WI 43, ¶34, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407 citing **Arizona v. Fulminante**, 499 U.S. 279, 287, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1990); **State v. Clappes**, 136 Wis.2d 222, 235, 401

N.W.2d 759 (1985). However, the application of the constitutional principles to those facts is subject to *de novo* review. **State v. Hoppe**, 2003 WI 43 at ¶34; **State v. Santiago**, 206 Wis.2d 3, 18, 556 N.W.2d 687 (1996). In this case, Janusiak challenges the ultimate finding by the trial court that her statements were voluntary and not the product of coercion or improper influence. Janusiak also contends that the trial court clearly erred by failing to consider certain historical or evidentiary facts, specifically, Coppernoll's presence in the interrogation and her statements to Janusiak.

#### B. Wisconsin and federal law regarding voluntariness

If a defendant's statements are not voluntary, their admission violates due process under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. **State v. Hoppe**, 2003 WI 43 at ¶36. A defendant's statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist. **Id.** The pertinent inquiry is whether the statements were coerced or the product of improper pressures

exercised by the person or persons conducting the interrogation. **Id.** Coercive or improper police conduct is a necessary prerequisite for a finding of involuntariness. **Id.**

We apply a totality of the circumstances standard to determine whether a defendant's statements are voluntary. **Id.** The totality of the circumstances analysis involves a balancing of the personal characteristics of the defendant against the pressures imposed upon the defendant by law enforcement officers. **Id.** at ¶38. The relevant personal characteristics of the defendant include the defendant's age, education and intelligence, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with law enforcement. **Id.** at ¶39. The personal characteristics are balanced against the police pressures and tactics which were used to induce the statements such as: the length of the questioning, any delay in arraignment, the excessive physical or psychological pressure brought to bear on the defendant, any inducements, threats, methods or strategies used by police to compel a response, and whether the defendant was informed of the right to counsel and right against self-incrimination. **Id.** When the allegedly coercive police conduct includes subtle forms of psychological persuasion, the mental condition of the defendant becomes more a significant factor in

the “voluntariness” calculus. **Id.** at ¶40. Police conduct does not need to be egregious or outrageous in order to be coercive. **Id.** at ¶46. Rather, subtle pressures are considered coercive if they exceed the defendant’s ability to resist. **Id.** Accordingly, pressures that are not coercive in one set of circumstances may be coercive in another set of circumstances if the defendant’s condition renders him or her uncommonly susceptible to police pressures. **Id.** It is the State’s burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statements were voluntary. **Id.** at ¶40.

C. Tactics by law enforcement which prey upon a parent’s fundamental interest in the relationship with his or her children in order to obtain an inculpatory statement are improper and coercive, and render a statement involuntary.

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