RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

08-13-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEANETTE M. JANUSIAK,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, PATRICK J. TAGGART, JUDGE

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

I. Janusiak's statements that a child in her care was injured when the child accidentally fell off a bed were not coerced.

The defendant-appellant, Jeanette M. Janusiak, never confessed that she intentionally injured an infant in her care by smashing the child's head against a wall so as to fatally fracture her skull.

Rather, the statements Janusiak challenges as involuntary are statements she made after about five hours of interrogation that abandoned her previous claims that she had no knowledge of how the child was injured, and asserted instead that the child was injured when she accidentally fell off a bed.

These statements purporting to portray an accidental injury were not a confession since they were intended to deflect any suggestion that she was guilty of a criminal act. *State v. Hockings*, 86 Wis. 2d 709, 727, 273 N.W.2d 339 (1979); *State v. Cartagena*, 40 Wis. 2d 213, 218, 161 N.W.2d 392 (1968).

Nevertheless, the statements were incriminating because the district attorney used them as evidence against Janusiak at her trial (91:627-28, 630; 96:1325-26, 1330-31). *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301 n.5 (1980); *State v. Cunningham*, 144 Wis. 2d 272, 279, 423 N.W.2d 862 (1988). It does not matter that the statements were exculpatory instead of inculpatory when they were made, *Innis*, 446 U.S. at 301 n.5; *Cunningham*, 144 Wis. 2d at 279, or that they were false. *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 174-77, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999).

To be used against Janusiak, the incriminating statements had to be voluntary. *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis. 2d 74, 93-94, 457 N.W.2d 299 (1990).

Janusiak asserts that her interrogators were trying to coerce her into giving a statement by making improper threats about what would happen if she did not speak and improper promises about what would happen if she did. But even assuming for the sake of argument that Janusiak might be right as far as she goes, she does not go far enough to warrant the suppression of her statements about a fall off the bed.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that there might have been some improper police conduct, the mere fact that the police acted improperly does not necessarily mean that evidence obtained following that impropriety should be suppressed. *Herring v. United States*, 555 U.S. 135, 140 (2009). Rather, suppression should be a last resort instead of a first impulse. *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 140.

The exclusionary rule enjoins the government from benefitting from evidence it has unlawfully obtained. *United States v. Crews*, 445 U.S. 463, 475 (1980). The rule is "premised on suppressing evidence that 'is *in some sense* the product of illegal governmental activity.'" *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 22, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (quoting *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984)).

Thus, the remedy in a criminal proceeding is limited to denying the state the fruits of its transgression. *United States v. Morrison*, 449 U.S. 361, 366 (1981). A court must identify and neutralize the taint by tailoring relief appropriate to the circumstances. *Morrison*, 449 U.S. at 365.

The police should be put in the same position they would have been in if the misconduct had not occurred, not in a worse position. *Nix*, 467 U.S. at 443. A criminal should not be set free just because the constable has blundered. *Nix*, 467 U.S. at 447.

So the relevant question in this case is not whether the police might have engaged in some coercive activity, but whether they actually coerced Janusiak into making the chain of statements about the baby falling from the bed.

The record shows that not only did the police not coerce Janusiak into making these statements, they actually tried to get Janusiak to abandon or retract them. But Janusiak had the will to resist these efforts to the very end, and continued to maintain that the baby fell from the bed despite everything the police did to try to convince her to stop saying that (111:299).

At first, Janusiak repeated the same story she related when the police were first called to her home the night before (89:183-86; 91:600-08). Janusiak told the police that she put the baby on the bed, then fell asleep in the living room (111:27). Janusiak said she was awakened by choking, gurgling sounds, and when she went into the bedroom she found that the infant was not breathing (111:28-30). Janusiak claimed she was not aware of anything that might have happened to the child (111:142).

When the police speculated that the child's injuries might have been accidental, Janusiak repeated that nothing happened to the child (111:143). Even when the police told Janusiak that she would not be in trouble if what happened was an accident, she denied that any accident happened (111:153-54, 157, 169). Janusiak specifically denied that the child had been dropped or had fallen (111:187-89, 201-02, 211).

After these claims of ignorance went on for a while, the police told Janusiak that they would have to arrest her because she had no explanation for what happened to the child (111:214-16). But the police told Janusiak that they would be "happy to listen" if she had "something more to add" that would "help explain what happened" to the child (111:217).

When Janusiak started to accuse the police of telling her what to say, they interrupted to say "to fall [or] roll off the bed, no it's [not] like that" (111:224). "No, we're not looking at a fall off the bed" (111:223).

Thus, the police made absolutely clear to Janusiak that they were definitely not telling her to say that the child fell off the bed.

Undeterred, Janusiak said "maybe she could have fallen" (111:225). When the police sought clarification by asking "[d]id she fall," Janusiak asserted for the first time, "She fell off my bed, it was off my bed" (111:225).

Janusiak needed no coaching from anyone to blame the bed for the baby's injuries. About a month earlier Janusiak told the baby's mother that the baby bruised her eye when she rolled off the bed (89:141-42; 93:937).

After Janusiak said precisely what the police did not want her to say, they repeatedly warned her that they did not believe her assertion that the child fell because the child's skull could not have been fractured by a fall from a bed (111:227-30, 233). The police told Janusiak that if she persisted in telling this incredible tale she would be going to jail (111:244-45).

Thus, the police did not coerce Janusiak into stating that the child fell from a bed by threatening to put her in jail if she did not say that. If there was any coercion from a threat to put Janusiak in jail, it would have been coercion to say something other than that the child fell off the bed.

Indeed, when Janusiak did not succumb to any police coercion to say something other than that the child fell, the police told Janusiak to "stop, stop with the whole falling off the bed thing" (111:254).

It could hardly be more obvious that the police were not coercing Janusiak to say that the child fell off the bed when they expressly told her to stop saying that.

But Janusiak did not stop. She kept saying that the child fell off the bed, even though the police told her that they did not want her to keep saying that (111:257).

Trying to move the inquiry past this stalemate, the police put out the possibility of something happening like the child rolling off the bed after being dropped there (111:263-64).

But Janusiak adamantly denied she ever did anything like that (111:263-64). She protested that she would not admit to throwing the child just to satisfy the police (111:264). Janusiak stated that she was not going to tell the police that she did something she did not do, and that she did not throw the child on the bed (111:264).

But having insisted that she would never tell the police that she threw the child, Janusiak asked the police if they wanted her to tell them that (111:268).

They replied, "No, no, no, no, no, no" (111:268). They said they did not want to put words in her mouth, and were not telling her to say she threw the child (111:268).

Janusiak did not say that she threw the child. But she did embellish her same old story about the child falling off the bed by asserting that the child hit the night table when she fell (111:269). Janusiak embellished her story a second time by asserting that the child hit an open drawer when she hit the night table when she fell, prompting the police to comment that every time they attempted to end the interview Janusiak added a little bit more (111:273, 275).

Attempting to end the interview did not coerce Janusiak to add to her story about the child falling from the bed. She was the one who prolonged the questioning.

Janusiak finally told the police she had nothing else to say (111:276-77). The baby fell off the bed and hit the night table drawer (111:276-77). That was Janusiak's story until the end of the interview (111:284-87, 294, 297, 299, 304-05, 309-11).

As the supreme court discussed in *Phillips v. State*, 29 Wis. 2d 521, 530, 139 N.W.2d 41 (1966), even when the police make threats dangerously close to those disapproved in *Lynumn v. Illinois*, 372 U.S. 528 (1963), to deprive a mother of the custody of her child, there remains a distinction between motivation and compulsion.

Janusiak might have been motivated to keep making untruthful, unbelievable and unwanted statements that a child in her care was injured when she accidentally fell off a bed in a desperate effort to avoid going to jail for intentionally killing the child. She might have hoped that if she kept repeating those statements long enough the police would eventually believe her. But she was not coerced to make those statements. The police interrogation did not compel Janusiak to make those statements; it was only the occasion. *See Hockings*, 86 Wis. 2d at 727-28.

Since Janusiak's statements about the baby falling off the bed were not coerced by the police, they were properly used at Janusiak's trial to show, as the police kept saying during the interrogation, that Janusiak was lying about how the baby was injured (91:627-28, 630; 96:1325-26, 1330-31).

II. Any error in admitting evidence of Janusiak's statements about an accidental fall would have been harmless.

The harmless error rule applies to coerced statements. *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 295 (1991); *State v. Mark*, 2005 WI App 62, ¶ 31, 280 Wis. 2d 436, 701 N.W.2d 598, *aff'd*, 2006 WI 78, 292 Wis. 2d 1, 718 N.W.2d 90; *Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d at 178.

Even if Janusiak's statements about an accidental fall would have been coerced, their use as evidence would have been harmless because any error would not have contributed to Janusiak's conviction, and she would have been found guilty even if these statements had not been used. *See State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶¶ 29-30, 32, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485 (discussing harmless error rule); *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 37, 40, 46, 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (same).

The jury could not have found Janusiak guilty on the basis of the substance of the statements about an accidental fall because they were not admissions of guilt. They were exculpatory.

The district attorney used these facially exculpatory statements to argue that Janusiak was lying about how the infant was injured (91:627-28, 630; 96:1325-26, 1330-31). But there was other evidence that also showed Janusiak was not telling the truth.

Janusiak's initial claim that she did not know how the child was injured, made before and at the beginning of the stationhouse interrogation, before it allegedly became coercive (89:183-86; 91:600-08; 111:27-30, 142), was patently false.

The child suffered three separate skull fractures, one on the right side of her head, one on the left side of her head, and one on the back of her head (91:539; 93:841, 852-55; 94:1036-41). These injuries indicated that there were three separate but nearly simultaneous points of impact (93:853-55; 94:1035-37, 1041-42, 1086-88).

The child also had adult fingertip contusions on her chest, abdomen and hips, evincing the application of violent pressure to the middle of the child's body (93:943-46).

A fall off a bed could not have caused these injuries (93:850-51, 857-58, 879, 957; 94:1100).

There were bloodstains on the wall in Janusiak's bedroom, two of them over the baby's crib (90:304, 334-44). The child's DNA was found in three of these bloodstains (93:751-56, 784, 805).

The only reasonable inference from this undisputed evidence is that the baby was fatally injured when her head was bashed against the wall at least three separate times.

Although Janusiak's expert speculated that the infant's injuries might have been a couple days old (94:1115-16, 1120), the credible testimony of the experts who actually examined the child, based on the established medical facts, was that the child was most probably injured during the late evening of August 17, 2011, or the early morning of August 18 (93:871-72, 956-57; 94:1087).

The child's treating pediatrician, a pediatric radiologist and a pathologist all agreed that the severe head injuries suffered by the child would have left her unconscious almost immediately (93:866, 881, 959; 94:1055, 1077, 1087-88). It is not likely she would have regained consciousness or had any lucid

intervals of the kind observed as late as one o'clock on the morning the child's injuries were reported at any time before she died (89:134-35, 183; 93:881, 962, 966).

The child could not have died a lingering death from a slow accumulation of blood inside her head caused by an earlier injury (93:871; 94:1052, 1064). There was no subdural hemorrhage that would have caused the infant's death in that manner (94:1077). There was no medical mechanism to explain any earlier injury (94:1096).

The child died from a severe acute injury to the brain itself that was immediately lethal (91:548; 93:866; 94:1054-55, 1077, 1088). Death from a direct brain injury is not progressive (94:1097).

Photographs of the child taken in the early morning hours of August 17, 2011, showed no visible injuries to her face, head or arms (91:522-26). The child's mother said that the baby was not injured when she was laying on Janusiak's bed on the evening of August 17, 2011 (89:131-32). Janusiak said that the child was fine at midnight and at one o'clock the next morning (89:134-35, 183).

Under these circumstances, Janusiak, who was caring for the child at the time she was injured (89:116, 172-73, 182-83; 91:579, 584), had to know how her injuries were sustained.

Indeed, a washcloth with the child's blood on it found hidden between the mattress and box spring of the bed (90:357-58, 384; 93:802-03), is graphic evidence that Janusiak knew how the child was hurt.

Janusiak also lied when she said early in the interrogation that the child had nothing more than a diaper rash on her bottom (111:45-52).

The child's rectum and anal area were penetrated by the insertion of an object that caused severe bruising and tearing (91:539, 548; 93:929-30, 948-49; 94:1019, 1026). Graphic photographs of these areas show that no one could have honestly mistaken these serious injuries for a diaper rash (66:exs. 159, 160).

Moreover, the evidence unconnected to any supposedly coerced statements was sufficient to prove not only that Janusiak lied about how the child was injured, but to prove that she was the one who inflicted the injuries.

Janusiak was the only adult in the house when the child was injured (89:172-73; 91:579-80, 587, 599-600). She was therefore the only person who could have possibly inflicted the injuries sustained by the child. She was the only one who could have grabbed the child tightly around the middle of her body and repeatedly smashed her head up against the wall hard enough to fracture her skull several times.

Janusiak was not only the only person who had an opportunity to injure the child, she was the only person who had a motive to injure the child. With four young children of her own, she did not have time to raise someone else's baby (91:579-80; 95:1172-73, 1220). Being addicted to painkillers, it became difficult for Janusiak to manage the child's constant crying (95:1181, 1205-07, 1244-45).

Circumstantial evidence is often stronger and more satisfactory than direct evidence. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). What happened here is obvious. The child was crying in the middle of the night. Janusiak could not handle it. So she hit the baby to shut her up.

This conclusion is inescapable whether or not Janusiak lied about the baby falling off the bed.

CONCLUSION

It is therefore respectfully submitted that the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.